STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Beaufort County

John C. Hayes, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

BENJAMIN CERVANTES HERNANDEZ,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-000612

AMENDED FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial judge err in failing to instruct the jury regarding the lesser-included offenses of assault and battery in the first and second degrees where the offenses are lesser-included offenses of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree and the evidence supported the instructions?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 29, 2015, a Beaufort County grand jury indicted Benjamin Cervantes Hernandez for two counts of criminal sexual conduct with a minor (CSCM) in the third degree (2015-GS-07-1296 & 2015-GS-07-1297) and CSCM in the second degree (2015-GS-07-1205). R. 2, l. 21 – R. 3, l. 1; R. 234 – 239. The state, represented by Julie Kate Kenney, called all three cases to trial on February 22-25, 2016, before the Honorable John C. Hayes, III, and a jury. R. 1. Helen Dovell represented Appellant. R. 1. The jury acquitted Appellant of two counts of CSCM in the third degree, but found Appellant guilty of CSCM in the second degree. R. 195, ll. 9-12. Judge Hayes sentenced Appellant to fifteen years' imprisonment. R. 209, ll. 17-22; R. 240.

On March 3, 2010, Appellant filed a motion for new trial pursuant to Rule 29, SCRCrimP. R. 230. On that same date, Appellant filed a motion for reconsideration of sentence. R. 231. On March 10, 2016, Judge Hayes denied both motions in a written order. R. 233. On March 16, 2016, Appellant filed and served his notice of appeal. This brief follows.

ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in failing to instruct the jury regarding the lesser-included offenses of assault and battery in the first and second degrees where the offenses are lesser-included offenses of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree and the evidence supported the instructions.

Relevant facts

The state charged Appellant with CSCM in the second degree related to Minor 1. Specifically, in the indictment, the state alleged that on July 17, 2015, Appellant “did commit a sexual battery upon a minor who was fourteen (14) years of age or less but who was at least eleven (11) years of age, to wit: digital penetration of victim, [Minor 1]’s, vagina.” R. 235. The plain language of the indictment made clear that the state was required to prove digital penetration of Minor 1’s vagina.

In July 2015, Maria Pizana was the mother of six children. R. 13, ll. 22-25; R. 62, ll. 19-24. One of Maria’s daughters was turning fifteen on July 18, 2015. R. 15, ll. 18-23. On Friday, July 17, 2015, Maria, two of her daughters, and a friend of one of the daughters went dress shopping to celebrate the upcoming birthday. R. 15, ll. 19-25; R. 54, ll. 1-5; R. 63, ll. 4-5. Minor 1 stayed home with her two brothers, one of whom was eight months old at the time, and an older boy who was friends with the older brother. R. 15, l. 25 – R. 16, l. 1; R. 54, ll. 5-8; R. 63, ll. 6-7. Maria and her husband were friends with Appellant and his longtime girlfriend, Veronica Barrios. R. 14, ll. 17-23; R. 15, ll. 15-17. While Maria was out shopping with the girls, Barrios called Maria to say she was stopping by her house with a gift. R. 16, ll. 4-6. Thirty minutes later, Maria and the girls returned home to find Appellant and Barrios waiting for her. R. 16, ll. 6-7; R. 54, ll. 13-20; R. 55, l. 2.

At trial, Minor 1 claimed that Appellant and Barrios sat on the couch beside her while they waited for Maria to return. R. 55, ll. 23-25; R. 57, ll. 9-13. She claimed that Appellant touched her private part while the three sat on the couch. R. 57, ll. 12-15; R. 63, ll. 16-21. This testimony was markedly different from what Minor 1 told the police and the forensic interviewer because she told both of them that nothing happened on the couch. R. 64, ll. 1-11; R. 65, ll. 2-5; R. 78, ll. 16-22.

According to Minor 1, when Minor 1 went to a different room to tend to her eight month old brother, Appellant followed her into the room and touched her breasts. R. 58, ll. 2-14. She claimed that Appellant pushed her and tried to prevent her from leaving the room. R. 66, ll. 1-17. This was decidedly different from what Minor 1 told the police and the forensic interviewer as well because she told the responding officer and the forensic interviewer that nothing happened when Appellant entered the bedroom the first time. R. 67, ll. 1-21; R. 79, ll. 2-9.

When Minor 1 returned to the baby's room a second time, she locked the door, but somehow, Appellant still entered. R. 58, ll. 17-22; R. 68, ll. 2-16. This time, she claimed, Appellant put his hand on her private part underneath her clothes. R. 59, ll. 1-4; R. 68, ll. 17-19. In response to the solicitor's leading question, Minor 1 claimed Appellant's fingers went inside her private part. R. 62, ll. 3-5. When Minor 1 was questioned about anything going inside of her vagina by the forensic interviewer, she stated she did not understand and that she did not know. R. 73, ll. 2-19; R. 79, ll. 11-19. Minor 1 took her baby brother into the living room. R. 59, ll. 24-25. She claimed Appellant followed her around the living room as she sat in different spots. R. 60, ll. 1-5.

Maria, Barrios, and Appellant sat at the dining room table. R. 16, ll. 9-10. They wanted to listen to music, and Appellant looked for a cable that would allow them to listen to music from a specific device. R. 16, ll. 17-21; R. 23, ll. 5-9. According to Maria, Appellant returned to the

dining room, and then went outside with the children. R. 16, l. 21 – R. 17, l. 1. Minor 1 re-entered the home and approached her mother, still sitting in the dining room. R. 17, ll. 1-3. Minor 1 made “a disclosure” to Maria. R. 17, ll. 10-12; R. 61, ll. 19-23. Maria confronted Appellant, and then called the police. R. 17, ll. 19-24.

Minor 1 claimed that she went outside at her mother’s suggestion because the baby was crying and Maria believed he would be soothed by going outside. R. 60, ll. 19-24; R. 70, ll. 20-24. Minor 1’s sister and friend were outside as well, but they went inside to get away from the mosquitos. R. 61, ll. 1-2; R. 71, ll. 1-2. The girls asked for bug spray, which Appellant retrieved from his car. R. 61, ll. 3-5; R. 71, ll. 1-5. Minor 1 claimed that while she was using Appellant’s bug spray, he said he wanted to kiss her. R. 61, ll. 9-17; R. 72, ll. 16-18.

While on the phone with the 911 operator, Maria explained there had been no penetration. R. 19, l. 23 – R. 20, l. 4. When the police arrived at Maria’s home, Appellant was still there. R. 42, ll. 21-23; R. 45, ll. 20-25; R. 49, ll. 8-10. Appellant indicated he wanted to speak to law enforcement, and did so once a translator arrived. R. 43, ll. 14-21; R. 46, ll. 1-14; R. 107, ll. 7-19; R. 115, ll. 9-13. The police arrested Appellant, transported him to the police department, and continued to interrogate him. R. 107, ll. 15-23; R. 115, l. 17 – R. 116, l. 1.

Nurse Karen Drozd examined Minor 1 the following day, July 18, 2015. R. 28, ll. 17-25. Drozd found “no bleeding, no obvious trauma.” R. 29, ll. 20-24. She found some redness in an area before the entrance of the vagina and where some skin had sloughed off. R. 29, l. 25 – R. 30, l. 11.

Appellant’s testimony provided the jurors with a very different view of July 17, 2015. While Appellant admitting to sitting on the couch with Minor 1 and Barrios when he first arrived at

the home, he denied touching her vagina. R. 138, l. 14 – R. 139, l. 3. He also admitted to looking for a charger to assist with listening to music. R. 141, ll. 14-22.

After Maria returned home, Appellant went into the bedroom to see the baby while Minor 1 was tending to the baby. R. 134, ll. 23-24. Appellant noted the baby was at the edge of the bed. R. 133, ll. 11-14. Worried the baby would fall, Appellant leaned down to move the baby to a safer location. R. 133, ll. 16-17. While he was leaning down, Minor 1 kissed him between his cheek and lips. R. 134, ll. 1-4. Appellant pushed her away. R. 134, ll. 4-6. Minor 1 took his hand and put it inside her pants. R. 134, ll. 6-7. With her other hand, she applied pressure. R. 134, ll. 7-9. Appellant slid the baby closer to the middle of the bed, pushed Minor 1 away, and removed his hand. R. 134, ll. 9-13.

Appellant admitted getting bug repellent for the girls outside. R. 135, ll. 19-23. While outside, Appellant explained that Minor 1's sister expressed her love for him, which he interpreted as friendly love and expressed his mutual love for her. R. 136, ll. 8-9. When Minor 1 heard the exchange, she grew jealous and accused Appellant of only loving the sister. R. 136, ll. 10-11. Appellant told Minor 1 that he loved her too, especially for how well she cared for her infant brother. R. 136, ll. 11-13. Appellant adamantly denied telling Minor 1 that he wanted to go to bed with her as she had told the forensic interviewer. R. 136, ll. 23-24. He also denied saying he wanted to kiss her. R. 137, ll. 1-2.

Charge conference

Appellant requested the trial judge instruct the jury regarding two lesser-included offenses of assault and battery in the first degree and assault and battery in the second degree. R. 152, l. 23 – R. 153, l. 4. Appellant explained the request was based upon prior determinations by the South Carolina Supreme Court that common law ABHAN, which was the unlawful act of violent injury to

the person of another accompanied by circumstances of aggravation, was a lesser included offense of criminal sexual conduct with a minor. R. 153, ll. 10-23. Appellant equated common law ABHAN with assault and battery in the first degree because both require unlawful injury and non-consensual touching. R. 155, ll. 1-4. Further, Appellant noted that statutory assault and battery in the first and second degree involved “non-consensual touching of the private parts of a person either under or above the clothing.” R. 155, ll. 13-16; R. 155, ll. 19-21.

In denying the request, the judge noted he had “analyzed and reanalyzed and maybe over analyzed whether or not” the statutory assault and battery offenses were lesser-included offenses of criminal sexual conduct. R. 151, ll. 13-18. He found the offenses were not lesser-included offenses “based on the test – the elements test – the analysis of the elements test.” R. 151, ll. 21-23. Specifically, he determined “they require proof of injury whereas the charges which are set forth in the indictment do not.” R. 151, ll. 23-25. Further, the judge held that based upon the legislature taking “great pains to explain” “which offenses are lesser of which higher offenses” in the statutory assault and battery scheme, the judge believed “that had the legislature desired to include these crimes these charges under the CSC [as lesser included of the new assault and batteries” “[t]hey could have included these offenses as lesser included offenses by statute.” R. 156, l. 16 – R. 157, l. 2. As a result, the judge refused to charge the jury regarding any lesser-included offenses.

Closing argument

During closing argument, defense counsel noted the many inconsistencies with Minor 1’s stories, including the issue of penetration. As defense counsel explained, Minor 1 claimed that Appellant’s fingers went inside of her during the trial, but when she was questioned on this point by the forensic interviewer, she said she did not know. R. 160, ll. 21-23. Further, when Minor 1’s mother called the police, she too denied any penetration occurred. R. 160, l. 25 - R. 161, l. 1.

Defense counsel also noted that Appellant told the police that it was possible his fingers went inside of Minor 1 because of the pressure she applied when holding his hand there. R. 161, ll. 5-9.

In response, the state relied upon Minor 1's emotions during her testimony to convince the jury that Minor 1 was telling the truth. R. 163, l. 25 – R. 164, l. 8; R. 168, ll. 1-8. The state seized upon Minor 1's testimony claiming Appellant "made contact with her skin" and that "his fingers went inside of her." R. 168, ll. 9-11. According to the state, during the forensic interview, Kendra Twitty asked Minor 1 about penetration and Minor 1 responded with "what do you mean?" and stated she did not know. R. 168, ll. 11-14. The state argued that it made sense that Minor 1 would not understand because she was eleven years old and she was "not used to someone touching her private parts in that way." R. 168, ll. 15-18. The state further argued that Appellant had penetrated Minor 1 because Minor 1 told the forensic interviewer that it hurt. The solicitor reasoned, "If it's not penetration, then why would it hurt." R. 168, ll. 15-22.

When going through the state's theory of how the facts supported the elements of the offense, the solicitor told the jurors:

And I have to prove to you that the defendant engaged in a sexual battery with the victim, who is at least eleven, between eleven and fourteen. We know [Minor 1] was eleven, no doubt about that. So, sexual battery. That could be proven by any intrusion, however slight, of any part of a person's body, or of any object into the genital openings of a person's body. Remember the intrusion, however slight, when you're deliberating, because when we're talking about the penetration here, we've got [Minor 1] that told you that his fingers went inside of her. And then, we've got the defendant that said, yeah, possibly my fingers did go inside of her. And we've got the defendant saying he felt moisture. And we also have [Minor 1] saying that it hurt. It doesn't have to be full-blown penetration. It's however slight.

R. 171, l. 12 – R. 172, l. 4.

Shortly thereafter, the solicitor noted that the judge would instruct them that "in cases such as these, criminal sexual conduct cases, the victims' testimony does not have to be corroborated. So

that means that, if you believe these girls, then you can find him guilty of these crimes.” R. 173, ll. 15-19.

Jury instructions

The judge instructed the jury regarding CSCM in the second degree as follows:

The first charge I’m going to go over is the indictment that charges [Appellant] with criminal sexual conduct with a minor. In that one the victim alleged is [Minor 1]. Here, the state must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant engaged in sexual battery with the alleged victim. A sexual battery is sexual intercourse, cunnilingus, fellatio, anal intercourse, intercourse, or any intrusion, however slight, of any part of a person’s body, or any object into the genital or anal openings of another person’s body, except for when the intrusion is accomplished for medically-recognized treatment or diagnostic purposes.

R. 184, ll. 4-15. Thereafter, the judge instructed the jurors regarding CSCM in the third degree. R. 184, l. 23 – R. 185, l. 14. Immediately following this instruction, the judge told the jurors that “[i]n criminal [sexual] conduct cases, the testimony of victims need not be corroborated.” R. 185, ll. 14-15.¹ The judge provided the jury with a written copy of the instructions, which included the “no corroboration required” instruction alone on a separate page. R. 186, ll. 13-22; R. 210 – 228.

Jury deliberations & verdict

During deliberations, the jury asked, “Do we need to agree on penetration to convict on second degree?” R. 191, ll. 13-16; R. 229. In response to the jury’s question, the judge re-charged the jury with the law on CSCM in the second degree and reminded the jury that its verdict must be unanimous. R. 191, l. 17 – R. 194, l. 8. Almost an hour and a half later, the jury returned with its

¹ In *State v. Stukes*, 416 S.C. 493, 499, 787 S.E.2d 480, 483 (2016), the South Carolina Supreme Court held that such a charge was “confusing and violative of the constitutional provision prohibiting courts from commenting to the jury on the facts of the case.” The Court explained that “[b]y addressing the veracity of a victim’s testimony in its instructions, the trial court emphasizes the weight of that evidence in the eyes of the jury. The charge invites the jury to believe the victim, explaining that to confirm the authenticity of her statement, the jury need only hear her speak.” *Id.* Trial counsel failed to object to the instruction.

verdicts – acquitting Appellant of two counts of CSCM in the third degree, but finding Appellant guilty of CSCM in the second degree. R. 194, l. 15 – R. 195, l. 12.

Discussion

To resolve the issue presented, this Court must determine first whether statutory assault and battery in the first and second degrees are lesser-included offenses of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree, and if so, then this Court must determine whether any evidence in the record supported a jury charge on statutory assault and battery.

Typically, “[t]he test for determining when an offense is a lesser included offense of another is whether the greater of the two offenses includes all the elements of the lesser offense.” State v. Primus, 349 S.C. 576, 579-580, 564 S.E.2d 103, 105 (2002) (citing State v. McFadden, 342 S.C. 629, 539 S.E.2d 387 (2000)). “If the lesser offense includes an element which is not included in the greater offense, then the lesser offense is not included in the greater offense.” Id. at 580, 564 S.E.2d at 105 (citing Hope v. State, 328 S.C. 78, 492 S.E.2d 76 (1997)). Nevertheless, the Court recognizes exceptions to this general rule, such as the anomaly of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN) and criminal sexual conduct (CSC). Id. (citing State v. Elliott, 346 S.C. 603, 552 S.E.2d 727 (2001)).

As recently as 2002, the Supreme Court reaffirmed its longstanding recognition of common law ABHAN as a lesser-included offense of CSC. In Primus, 349 S.C. at 581, 564 S.E.2d at 106 (2002), *overruled on other grounds by* State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 106, 610 S.E.2d 494, 501 (2005), the Court held ABHAN is a lesser included offense of first degree CSC. The Court acknowledged that because ABHAN had an element not included in first degree CSC, it failed the strict elements test usually used to determine whether an offense is a lesser included of a greater offense. However, the Court recognized this situation presented an exception to the traditional

elements test. The Court had repeatedly held ABHAN was a lesser included offense of first degree CSC; therefore, the Court continued to recognize ABHAN as a lesser included offense to sustain a uniform approach to the offenses. *Id.* Indeed, South Carolina has recognized this exception to the traditional elements test repeatedly. See State v. Frazier, 302 S.C. 500, 397 S.E.2d 93 (1990); State v. Pressley, 292 S.C. 9, 354 S.E.2d 777 (1987); State v. Mathis, 287 S.C. 589, 340 S.E.2d 538 (1986); State v. Drafts, 288 S.C. 30, 340 S.E.2d 784 (1986); State v. Lambright, 279 S.C. 535, 309 S.E.2d 7 (1983).

In State v. Elliott, 346 S.C. 603, 607, 552 S.E.2d 727, 729 (2001), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C. 93, 106, 610 S.E.2d 494, 501 (2005), the Supreme Court held its jurisprudence of consistently incorporating ABHAN into the CSC framework as a lesser-included offense of assault with intent to commit CSC (ACSC) survived the codification of the CSC statutes. The Court explained that “the legislature, in enacting the CSC statutes, is presumed to know the common law and could have provided that ABHAN not be treated as a lesser offense of ACSC.” *Id.* at 607 n.2, 552 S.E.2d at 729 n.2 (citing State v. Bridgers, 329 S.C. 11, 495 S.E.2d 196 (1997)). Thus, the Court recognized the “anomaly in the law” created by recognizing ABHAN as a lesser included offense of ACSC due to the strict elements test; however, the Court explained “[t]he common law does not always fit into the neat categories we might prefer.” The court found “compelling reasons not to abandon [its] longstanding inclusion of ABHAN as a lesser included offense of attempted sexual battery crimes.” *Id.* at 607, 552 S.E.2d at 729.

In 2010, the South Carolina Legislature codified ABHAN and various degrees of assault and battery. Specifically, the General Assembly explained that ABHAN occurs when a “person unlawfully injures another person” and “great bodily injury results” or “the act is accomplished by means likely to produce death or great bodily injury.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600(B)(1).

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