STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Beaufort County  
Honorable John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2016-000612

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

BENJAMIN CERVANTES HERNANDEZ,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

ISAAC McDUFFIE STONE, III  
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1880  
Bluffton, SC 29910  
(843) 255-5880

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

MAY 25 2017

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

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

## ARGUMENT

**Any issue with the trial judge's refusal to instruct the jury on first-degree and second-degree assault and battery as purported lesser-included offenses of second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor is not properly preserved for appellate review because defense counsel waived any such issue during trial by directly indicating to the trial judge she had no objections to the jury instructions as presented after the trial judge finished instructing the jury on the applicable law. However, regardless of any issue preservation concerns, the trial judge properly declined to instruct the jury on the statutory offenses of first-degree and second-degree assault and battery because those offenses are not lesser-included offenses of second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor.**

Appellant contends the trial judge erred in declining to instruct the jury on the statutory offenses of first-degree and second-degree assault and battery. In support of that contention, Appellant maintains first-degree and second-degree assault and battery should be considered to be a lesser-included offense of second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor in light of the fact the common-law offense of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature has previously been found to be a lesser-included offense of some criminal sexual conduct offenses. Furthermore, Appellant maintains the facts of his case justified charges on first-degree and second-degree assault and battery as lesser-included offenses. Initially, any issue with the trial judge's jury instructions is not properly preserved for appellate review in Appellant's case because defense counsel waived any such issue by specifically indicating to the trial judge she had no objections to the jury charge after it was presented to the jury. However, notwithstanding any issue preservation concerns, first-degree and second-degree assault and battery are not lesser-included offenses of second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor in light of the fact second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor does **not** include all the elements of either first-degree or second-degree assault and battery. Moreover, first-degree and second-degree assault and battery are not lesser-included offenses of second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor in light of the fact the legislature elected not to recognize them as such.

Therefore, the trial judge properly declined to instruct the jury on first-degree and second-degree assault and battery in Appellant's case. Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

**A. Waiver of Any Issue Regarding the Trial Judge's Jury Instructions**

In South Carolina, issue preservation requirements are a fundamental component of appellate procedure. Gaddy v. Douglass, 359 S.C. 329, 350, 597 S.E.2d 12, 23 (Ct. App. 2004). Significantly, the application of issue preservation requirements ensures the trial court has an opportunity "to rule properly after it considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments." I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). In order for an issue to properly be preserved for appellate review, the issue must be: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-913 (Ct. App. 2004); see JEAN HOEFER TOAL ET AL., APPELLATE PRACTICE IN SOUTH CAROLINA 57 (2nd ed. 2002) (identifying the four requirements that must be met in order for an issue to be properly preserved for appellate review). Importantly, "[i]f a party fails to properly object, the party is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal." State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 58-59, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005).

Moreover, even if a party properly raises an objection during trial, a party may still waive his right to argue error in regard to that objection on appeal under certain circumstances. See State v. O'Neal, 210 S.C. 305, 312, 42 S.E.2d 523, 526 (1947) (recognizing a previously-raised objection can be waived). Significantly, one of the ways a party can waive an objection is by indicating to the trial judge the party does not have an objection to an issue to which the party previously raised an objection. See State v. Brown, 402 S.C. 119, 125, 740 S.E.2d 493, 496 (2013) (holding Brown's issue with a jury instruction was not preserved for appellate review

where Brown explicitly stated to the trial judge he had no objection to the instruction); State v. Rios, 388 S.C. 335, 342, 696 S.E.2d 608, 612 (Ct. App. 2010) (holding Rios waived his right to allege error with a jury charge on appeal where the trial court specifically asked if there were any objections to the instructions given and Rios responded there were none); State v. Dicapua, 373 S.C. 452, 455, 646 S.E.2d 150, 152 (Ct. App. 2007) (“Dicapua’s sole objection to the videotape came in the form of a motion in limine to suppress the videotape because of its lack of audio. Once the State moved to enter the videotape into evidence and publish it to the jury, however, Dicapua’s counsel specifically stated he had ‘no objection.’ We find this amounted to a waiver of any issue Dicapua had with the videotape.”); cf. Commonwealth v. Moury, 992 A.2d 162, 178 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2010) (“Generally, a defendant waives subsequent challenges to the propriety of the jury charge on appeal if he responds in the negative when the court asks whether additions or corrections to a jury charge are necessary.”).

In the case sub judice, any issue in regard to the trial judge’s instructions to the jury was not properly preserved for appellate review. That is true because, even though defense counsel initially requested the trial judge instruct the jury on first-degree and second-degree assault and battery as purported lesser-included offenses of second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor and the trial judge denied those requests after explaining why he did not believe the requested charges were appropriate, defense counsel subsequently expressly waived any issue regarding the trial judge’s jury instructions by directly and unreservedly affirming to the trial judge she had no issues with or objections to the jury charge as presented, which, significantly, did **not** include any instruction on lesser-included offenses. See Brown, 402 S.C. at 125, 740 S.E.2d at 496 (“[Brown]’s trial counsel stated explicitly that he had no objection to the trial court’s instruction. Thus, [Brown]’s argument that the trial court erred in failing to apply section

16-13-30 as amended is unpreserved.”); Rios, 388 S.C. at 342, 696 S.E.2d at 612 (“Even after the trial court specifically asked if there were any objections to the charges given, Rios responded, ‘None.’ By failing to contemporaneously object to the jury charges, Rios has waived his right to allege error on appeal.”); see also Burke v. AnMed Health, 393 S.C. 48, 55, 710 S.E.2d 84, 88 (Ct. App. 2011) (“When a party states to the trial court that it has no objection to the introduction of evidence, even though the party previously made a motion to exclude the evidence, the issue raised in the previous motion is not preserved for appellate review.”); see, e.g., Rule 20(b), SCRCrimP (“Notwithstanding any request for legal instructions, the parties shall be given the opportunity to object to the giving or failure to give an instruction before the jury retires, but out of the hearing of the jury. Any objection shall state distinctly the matter objected to and the grounds for objection. Failure to object in accordance with this rule shall constitute a waiver of objection.”). Accordingly, in light of the fact defense counsel directly affirmed she had no issues with or objections to the jury instructions after they were given, any issue Appellant may have had in regard to the trial judge’s jury instructions was expressly waived, and no issue regarding the trial judge’s failure to instruct the jury on first-degree and second-degree assault and battery can properly be raised or addressed on appeal. See State v. Head, 330 S.C. 79, 87, 498 S.E.2d 389, 393 (Ct. App. 1997) (instructing an appellate court “cannot address unpreserved errors”). Appellant’s conviction should be affirmed.

#### **B. Propriety of the Trial Judge’s Jury Instructions**

The purpose of a trial judge’s jury instructions is “to enlighten the jury and to aid it in arriving at a correct verdict.” State v. Leonard, 292 S.C. 133, 137, 355 S.E.2d 270, 273 (1987). When instructing a jury on the law, a trial judge is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina, and the law to be charged is determined by the evidence presented at trial.

State v. Holland, 385 S.C. 159, 165, 682 S.E.2d 898, 901 (Ct. App. 2009); see State v. Taylor, 356 S.C. 227, 231, 589 S.E.2d 1, 2 (2003) (“In general, the trial judge is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina, . . . and the law to be charged to the jury is determined by the evidence at trial.” (citations omitted)). Ordinarily, a trial court has a duty to give a requested instruction when it correctly states the law applicable to the issues and is supported by the evidence, but a trial judge should decline to give a requested instruction when it tenders an issue that is not presented or supported by the evidence. State v. Peer, 320 S.C. 546, 553, 466 S.E.2d 375, 380 (Ct. App. 1996); see State v. Weaver, 265 S.C. 130, 137, 217 S.E.2d 31, 34 (1975) (“No instruction should be given by the trial judge, at the request of the appellant, which tenders an issue which is not presented or supported by the evidence.”).

When instructing the jury on the law, “[a] trial judge is required to charge the jury on a lesser-included offense if there is evidence from which it could be inferred the lesser, rather than the greater, offense was committed.” State v. Green, 397 S.C. 268, 289, 724 S.E.2d 664, 674 (2012). Generally, pursuant to the accepted test for determining whether an offense is a lesser-included offense of another, an offense is considered to be a lesser-included offense of a greater offense if the greater offense includes all the elements of the lesser-included offense. State v. Primus, 349 S.C. 576, 579-580, 564 S.E.2d 103, 105 (2002), overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry, 563 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005). However, “[i]f the lesser offense includes an element which is not included in the greater offense, then the lesser offense is **not** included in the greater offense.” Id. at 580, 564 S.E.2d at 105 (emphasis added). Significantly, in determining whether an offense is a lesser-included offense of another, courts in South Carolina typically apply the elements test to make that determination with few exceptions. See id. (“While the

Court recognizes the existence of a few anomalies, it generally adheres to the use of the traditional elements test.”).

Importantly, a trial judge’s jury instructions are appropriate if they are substantially correct and adequately cover the law applicable to the case. State v. Foust, 325 S.C. 12, 16, 479 S.E.2d 50, 52 (1996); see State v. Adkins, 353 S.C. 312, 318, 577 S.E.2d 460, 464 (Ct. App. 2003) (“A jury charge is correct if, when the charge is read as a whole, it contains the correct definition and adequately covers the law.”). Moreover, a trial judge only commits reversible error if the judge prejudicially fails to give a requested charge on an issue raised by the evidence. State v. Hill, 315 S.C. 260, 262, 433 S.E.2d 848, 849 (1993); see Taylor, 356 S.C. at 231, 589 S.E.2d at 2 (“To warrant reversal, a trial judge’s charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial.”). In reviewing a trial judge’s jury instructions for error, the appellate court must view the jury charge as a whole and in light of the evidence and issues from trial. State v. Simmons, 384 S.C. 145, 178, 682 S.E.2d 19, 36 (Ct. App. 2009); see Todd v. State, 355 S.C. 396, 402, 585 S.E.2d 305, 308 (2003) (“[J]ury charges should be examined in their entirety and not in isolation in analyzing whether the defendant’s due process rights have been violated.”). So long as the jury instructions presented are substantially correct and cover the applicable law, reversal is not warranted. See State v. Ezell, 321 S.C. 421, 425, 468 S.E.2d 679, 681 (Ct. App. 1996) (“A jury charge which is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal.”); see also State v. Rye, 375 S.C. 119, 123, 651 S.E.2d 321, 323 (2007) (“A trial court’s decision regarding jury charges will not be reversed where the charges, as a whole, properly charged the law to be applied.”).

In the case at bar, the trial judge committed no error in declining to instruct the jury on the offenses of first-degree and second-degree assault and battery because those crimes are not

lesser-included offenses of second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor. That is true because, looking to the elements of the offenses, second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor does **not** include all the elements of either first-degree or second-degree assault and battery. Compare S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-655(B) (defining the offense of second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor, which requires proof: (1) the actor engaged in a sexual battery with a victim who was between eleven and fourteen years old; or (2) the actor engaged in a sexual battery with a victim who was at least fourteen years old but less than sixteen years old and the actor was in a “position of familial, custodial, or official authority to coerce the victim to submit” or was older than the victim); and S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-651 (defining sexual battery for purposes of criminal sexual conduct offenses as “sexual intercourse, cunnilingus, fellatio, anal intercourse, or any intrusion, however slight, of any part of a person’s body or of any object into the genital or anal openings of another person’s body, except where such intrusion is accomplished for medically recognized treatment or diagnostic purposes”); with S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600(C)(1) (defining the offense of first-degree assault and battery, which requires proof: (1) the actor injured another through nonconsensual touching of the private parts with lewd and lascivious intent or during the course of a robbery, burglary, kidnapping, or theft; or (2) the actor offered or attempted to injure another person with the present ability to do so by a means likely to produce death or great bodily injury or during the commission of a robbery, burglary, kidnapping, or theft); and S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600(D)(1) (defining the offense of second-degree assault and battery, which requires proof the actor injured another person or offered or attempted to injure another person with the present ability to do so and: (1) moderate bodily injury resulted or could have resulted; or (2) the act involved the nonconsensual touching of the private parts of a person above or underneath the person’s clothing). Specifically, second-degree

criminal sexual conduct with a minor does **not** include any elements requiring proof of an injury or an offer or attempt to injure, proof of nonconsensual touching of a person’s private parts, proof of lewd and lascivious intent, proof establishing another crime like a robbery or a burglary was committed, proof establishing death or great bodily injury could have resulted, or proof establishing moderate bodily injury was inflicted or could have been inflicted. As a result, first-degree and second-degree assault and battery are not lesser-included offenses of second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor under the recognized and accepted test for determining whether offenses are lesser-included offenses of another. See Knox v. State, 340 S.C. 81, 85, 530 S.E.2d 887, 889 (2000) (“A lesser offense is included in the greater only if each of its elements is *always* a necessary element of the greater offense.”), overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry, 563 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005).

Recognizing that fact, Appellant concedes on appeal first-degree and second-degree assault and battery are not lesser-included offenses of second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor pursuant to the traditional elements test while contending they should nonetheless be treated as such based on “[t]radition, justice, and fairness[.]” In support of that contention, Appellant relies primarily on the fact the common-law offense of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature – prior to its **abolition** though the passage of the Omnibus Crime Reduction and Sentencing Reform Act of 2010 – had historically been considered to be a lesser-included offense of first-degree criminal sexual conduct purely as a matter of common-law tradition.<sup>7</sup> See Primus, 349 S.C. at 581, 564 S.E.2d at 106 (“[E]mploying the traditional

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